IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM M. WHITE,)		
)		
Appellant,)		
)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	88,686
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
)		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD JORANDBY Public Defender

STEVEN H. MALONE Assistant Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

Attorney for William M. White

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William White (appellant), Richard DiMarino, and Guy Ennis were charged with first degree murder of Gracie Crawford. After being convicted of third degree murder, DiMarino testified against appellant and Smith in separate trials. Smith was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death over a life recommendation. This court reduced the sentence to life. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 1981). Appellant was convicted and sentenced to death, and this Court affirmed. <u>White v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 719 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u> 459 U.S. 1055 (1982), <u>reh. denied</u> 459 U.S. 1189 (1983).

Appellant filed his Rule 3.850 motion in 1983, and it was later amended and supplemented. The state was ordered to respond, but the process was interrupted by a death warrant. The court stayed the warrant, SR 165, 183, and at the same hearing struck several claims. SR 174, 177, 182-83. In 1987 trial court proceedings were suspended for filing of a Hitchcock claim in this Court. <u>White v. Dugger</u>, 523 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 1988) (denying relief as to in-the-record mitigation). In 1992 the court heard evidence, and denied relief in 1996. R 1062-80. Motion for rehearing was denied, and this appeal follows.

1. THE RECORD OF ORIGINAL TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

This Court related the facts from the record of the trial proceedings in its opinion on direct appeal (415 So. 2d at 719-720):

White was a member of a Kentucky chapter of the Outlaws, a motorcycle gang, but was visiting the Orlando chapter. A group of the Outlaws, accompanied by some girl friends, visited an Orlando nightclub where they met Gracie Mae

- 1 -

Crawford. Gracie Mae accompanied some of the Outlaws back to their Orlando clubhouse. Soon after returning to the clubhouse, White retired to a bedroom with his girl friend. Sometime thereafter White was called by DiMarino who stated that Crawford liked blacks and that they had to teach her White dressed and went into the kitchen area a lesson. where he joined DiMarino and Guy Ennis Smith in severely beating Crawford. Whether DiMarino or White led the assault is unclear, but one witness testified of White's hitting Crawford with his fist and knocking her to the floor. After the beating, DiMarino and White placed Crawford in the middle of the front seat of White's girl friend's car. White started driving but along the way stopped the car and DiMarino drove the car to the end of a deserted road. (The victim. White and DiMarino had done a lot of drinking that evening, but White's girl friend testified that he knew what he was doing.) After they stopped the car, DiMarino and White pulled Crawford from the car, passed her over a barbed wire fence, and laid her on the ground. White then straddled her, took out his knife, stabbed her fourteen times and slit her throat. Crawford died as a result of the wounds inflicted upon her.

While leaving the area White and DiMarino ran out of gas at the Seaworld parking lot and were later identified by Seaworld security guards who had given them gas. White and DiMarino went back and picked up the body of the deceased and thereafter discarded it at a different place. The body was discovered that afternoon.

As for penalty phase: "No testimony was presented of any mitigating circumstances, statutory or nonstatutory, " Id. 720.

At jury selection, the judge told the venire about the second part of the trial where the jury would be called upon to hear mitigating or aggravating circumstances. TR 10. The state told them:

> I don't mean to be repetitious, but it is important that you understand it.

> Each of you understand, in the second phase, assuming we found the person guilty of the First Degree Murder in the first phase; in the second phase, there will be certain guidelines. <u>There</u> is a statute listing aggravating circumstances

and some mitigating circumstances. And that you would follow those for the second phase in making your recommendation to the Court.

So, you have some guidelines based again on that law and the evidence presented. Each of you understand that? So, you are not left to wonder what to do. You have some guidelines as to what to do in the second phase.

TR 16-17 (e.s.). The state asked if they could base the sentencing decision on the law and evidence, reminding them of the statute. TR 17, 26-27, 28. Defense counsel did not object to these comments.

At the penalty trial, the judge began by telling the jury that "this is the part in which we will talk about the aggravating and mitigating circumstances." TR 803. The state argued to the jury:

> And again, you are going to be given jury instructions outlining in detail exactly what the aggravating circumstances are that you're to consider. And they will outline in detail those mitigating circumstances that you're to consider. So you'll be told by the judge what they are. You'll have a written copy of them to take back with you and read verbatim as to what he will tell you.

TR 805 (e.s.). The state displayed a chart of aggravating circumstances and "the" mitigating circumstances:

> I have prepared for the purpose of our discussion here an outline of the aggravating and mitigating <u>circumstances</u>. And I would like to go through these with you <u>one at a time</u> to show you what we're talking about and what applies and what doesn't.

> I don't know if you can see this or not, but, anyway, you'll have these instructions with you.

What we've done is prepared just an outline. And don't go by this verbatim, but go by the instruc-

- 3 -

tions. But this is <u>an outline to essentially</u> what they are, with the aggravating circumstances in this column and <u>the mitigating circumstances</u> in this column.

TR 806 (e.s.). The state listed only statutory mitigating factors. It was "going to go over <u>the</u> mitigating circumstances and show why <u>they</u> apply or why <u>they</u> don't apply." TR 805 (e.s.).

There was no objection to any of this from defense counsel, who agreed with the state's statements of law. His argument did not contradict the limitation to the statutory list because (while his argument began with factors that involve non-statutory mitigation in response to aggravation), after saying "now we get to the mitigation" he only referred to the statutory factors. TR 819. He concluded his argument with an entreaty: "When you go back, <u>look at that list</u> in the jury room. Weigh <u>the</u> mitigating factors. Weigh the aggravating factors." TR 820 (e.s.).

After counsels' argument, the Court charged the jury that:

The mitigating circumstances which you may consider, if established by the evidence, are these: [reciting statutory list of mitigating factors (a) - (g)].

TR 823. In sentencing Mr. White the judge stated:

This Court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, finds that sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as enumerated in Florida Statute 921.141(5) to require imposition of the death penalty, and that there are insufficient <u>mitigating circumstances as enumerated in</u> <u>subsection (6)</u> to outweigh the aggravating circumstances. TR 831 (e.s.). The separate written sentence contains the identical reasoning, TR 1638-39, and the finding of fact also refers to the "certain enumerated" aggravating and mitigating circumstances, TR 1648, and reviews only statutory mitigators (referring to them by statutory paragraph letter). TR 1649-50.

2. THE RECORD ON POSTCONVICTION

(a) Evidence respecting counsel.

The Public Defender was appointed, and responsibility for representation fell to Lehn Abrams; this was his first capital case, though he assisted in others. PC 56-57. Although he had been told that other counsel would be retained, he filed capital motions and deposed nearly everyone on the witness list. PC 59, 60. According to discovery, White and DiMarino were seen at Sea World in the early hours the day the body was found in that area. White, DiMarino, and other Outlaws were at the Inferno bar with Crawford that evening. As White drank continuously that night, the most plausible defenses would be intoxication and to point the finger at DiMarino. R 60, 61. There were no incriminating statements, and no codefendant listed as a witness. R 61. Abrams considered it important to get, and did get, a statement of particulars. R 59, TR 1520.¹

¹ On the third day of trial, the state provided an amended statement of particulars without objection. TR 453, 1536. Appellant discusses this matter in detail at Point III below.

As trial neared, David Kaplan, a Louisville, Kentucky, attorney, called Abrams to say he was taking over. R $67.^2$ Giving him the file and the criminal rules, Abrams stopped work on the case. R 68-69.

Kaplan³ testified that the first time he worked on the case, or even saw the depositions, was when he flew down to get substituted, about a month before trial. R 101.⁴ The sum of his investigation was: "Other than talking to the members of the club and those people who were down there, that was it." R 102.⁵ He did not review Florida law, except by looking at the "statutes" given by Abrams. R 103. Asked about not enforcing a prior order for individual voir dire, he said, "I never seen all those motions", though Abrams "may have mentioned it." R 107. The judge made Kaplan agree not to seek a continuance; he was "duty-bound" not to move for a continuance. R 118-19.

⁴ Kaplan filed his Notice of Appearance October 23, 1978. TR
1515. The court withdrew the Public Defender the next day. TR 1518,
1519. Trial began November 27, 1978. TR 6.

² Kaplan testified he took the case "gratis," because he had represented a number of members of the Outlaws for years and knew Bill personally. R 99-100. The club took care of his hotel expenses and driving him down from Louisville. R 101.

³ Kaplan has been a member of the Kentucky bar since 1969; his practice is 75% criminal law. He is not licensed to practice law in Florida and never has been. R 97-8.

⁵ This is borne out by the trial testimony of defense witness John DiMarino who testified he had told Kaplan about his testimony only the day before he testified. TR 612. Kaplan reiterated this in his closing. TR 743.

Kaplan's view of the case was similar to Abrams': either Bill didn't do it or he was intoxicated. R 103. Kaplan was to focus on Bill's state of mind and point the finger at DiMarino. R 104, 105.

Shortly before trial,⁶ Abrams received discovery naming Richard DiMarino, who had been convicted of third degree murder a week before. That was the first indication that DiMarino might testify.

Kaplan alone represented appellant the first day of trial, during which the jury was chosen, TR 6-103, and testimony began. His questioning of prospective jurors covers five pages. TR 98-102.⁷ That afternoon, he waived opening statement, TR 118, and cross examined the first witness. TR 133-142.⁸

The next morning, the judge had Abrams sit with Kaplan because he was not a Florida Bar member (the Integration Rule required association of a Florida lawyer), and because "there might be some technicality that he would not be familiar with..." TR 151. Abrams objected, but said he would "comply with the court's request to sit in there." TR

⁶ The state served the notice <u>by mail</u> on November 20, 1978. TR 1528. Trial began November 27. TR 1.

⁷ Though the court had granted Abrams' motion for individual voir dire, Kaplan did not enforce it. TR 6-103.

⁸ At noon, the judge called the parties to chambers to make sure White was satisfied with Kaplan as his attorney. TR 49.

153. The court initially obtained White's agreement,⁹ but then Kaplan said appellant was not waiving any issues. TR 153.

Abrams related that the evening of the trial's first day, he was told to appear the next day as local counsel. R 70. He had strong reservations, but appeared because his boss made a commitment to the judge. R 70. When he got there, the jury was already chosen. R 71.

Abrams testified: "My understanding -- my role was to advise Mr. Kaplan of any questions that were peculiar to Florida law or procedure that he might ask." R 71, 89.¹⁰ His role did not include strategy, jury instructions, or educating Kaplan on substantive law. R 71-72. Kaplan "had been retained to handle the case and it was his to do with as he and Mr. White decided." R 72. Abrams did not sit in on any discussion between appellant and Kaplan, and did not discuss strategy with Kaplan: "If he would ask a question and it was something about the case that I knew up to the point and time where I was no longer responsible for it, I would try to respond to it as best I could. Was I sitting there at his elbow suggesting questions for cross-examination of the witnesses or anything like that, no." R 72.

⁹ The judge explained the arrangement to Mr. White as "Mr. Kaplan, from Kentucky, doing your case and Mr. Abrams sitting at counsel table with him to give him any assistance that he deems necessary". TR 153.

¹⁰ For example, Abrams testified that the state made a Golden Rule argument and he knew that "in Florida if you didn't object at that time and ask for mistrial you waived that argument." He "had to almost push him [Kaplan] up to get him to object, because he either didn't recognize it or wasn't aware of that rule." R 71.

Kaplan had a different view of Abrams' role:¹¹ "The understanding was, I was going to go through the mechanics of the trial and Lenny was going to tell me the procedural aspects and whatever law there was on the subject." R 106. Kaplan says Abrams discussed strategy and defenses, and that, since jury instructions were his "forte'," Abrams took an active role in that discussion. R 107. Kaplan relied on the judge, the state, and Abrams to tell him the law. R 108. Abrams denied such an extensive role, R 70-72, and as for Kaplan's contention that Abrams was responsible for jury instructions, he testified: "That was Mr. Kaplan's job." R 71.

Abrams did nothing to prepare for penalty phase. R 65-66.¹² This is because he believed he was just a "substitute" for the true trial counsel, and at the point he was replaced there were over thirty days until trial. R 66. He has no specific recall of discussing penalty phase law or procedure with Kaplan: "It wasn't my obligation. We may have discussed it, but it was his case to try." R 73. He believes he gave Kaplan a copy of the death penalty statute. R 72-73.

Kaplan had no experience in preparing and presenting a separate penalty phase. While he had tried capital cases before, they were all during the time when guilt and penalty were decided in one proceeding. He had never had a bifurcated capital case. R 99-100. Aside from reading the statute Abrams gave him, he did no legal research into

¹² He thought he was limited to statutory mitigation. R 66-67.

¹¹ The trial court did not resolve conflicts in their testimony.

Florida death penalty law. R 102. He relied on the judge, the state and Abrams to advise him of the law.¹³ On postconviction he was surprised no one had told him a life sentence carried a 25 year mandatory minimum, and testified it was his understanding that a life sentence in Florida meant appellant would have only had to have served eleven or twelve years:

Q Do you recall, during the course of the trial -- you and I have talked about it -- that the jury wasn't told that there was a mandatory 25 year minimum?

A That was never brought up. It was never brought up in chambers in conversation. Never brought up at all.

Q Do you feel that someone should have brought that to your attention?

A At least in the penalty stage I could have argued that.

Q. What back then was the punishment in a capital case in Kentucky, back in `78, if you were convicted of first degree murder?

A It was life or death.

Q What did life mean in Kentucky?

A 8 years. As a matter of fact, it was reduced to six right after that. So it was six years for awhile.

Q Did you understand Florida law to be any different?

 $^{^{13}}$ "Q. Were you sort of relying on the prosecutor and the Judge and Mr. Abrams to tell you the law of the case? A. In essence. Q. So if the prosecutor would say something to the jury about what the law was, unless Mr. Abrams tod you that wasn't true, you would have accepted it? A. Well, I'm not naive, but I could only assume that if a prosecutor has his mantle of authority and he is going to quote some law to the jury and quote some law to the judge, he's not going to make it up. He's not a fool, I don't think, and I would have accepted it." R 108.

A I knew it was more. I thought it was something like 11 or 12.

R 115-116.¹⁴ He thought the jury had "no function" at sentencing (R 116):

Q Did you have any understanding as to whether the jury's recommendation meant anything as to penalty?

A You know, you learn that the jury is an advisory capacity, and whether that advisory capacity is a mandate to a judge, I wouldn't believe it would be. But just being there for an advisory capacity and having no function, because what a judge is going to do -- he's going to do what he wants anyway. I didn't know how emphatic of how important it was, whatever their advisory opinion would be.

Q You didn't know that? You only knew it had some import?

A Right.

Q And that, in fact, it carried great weight?

A Yes.

He devoted no time to separate penalty investigation. <u>Id</u>. Though White's mother and sister (and other witnesses) lived near Orlando and were available, neither attorney spoke with them. R 294, 304, 318. Kaplan said he spoke with Abrams about penalty evidence between phases, but came up with nothing. R 116-17. Abrams said Kaplan never spoke to him about penalty, either about substantive law, R 72, or factual matters. When Kaplan went to Kentucky after the conviction, Abrams never spoke with him again until perhaps the evening before the penalty phase; Abrams did not see it as his role to develop

¹⁴ The jury was never told the life sentence option carried a 25 year mandatory minimum. At penalty phase it was referred to as a "life sentence." TR 803-835.

witnesses. R 74-5. Kaplan put on no evidence at penalty phase, did not object to any argument made by the state, suggested no instructions, and failed to argue for life to the judge at the sentencing which occurred in the jury's presence immediately upon receipt of the recommendation. TR 803-834.

(B) Evidence respecting mitigation and appellant's background.

The postconviction record sets out evidence Kaplan could easily have found. To avoid confusion, the following discussion will refer to William Melvin White, Jr., (appellant) as "Bill" or "Billy". It will refer to his father, William Melvin White, Sr., as "Melvin".

Billy was born May 23, 1945, in the central Florida hamlet of Plymouth, the third child born to Melvin and Jennie Monk White. Def. Ex. 11. Life had once been kind to the "soft spoken, very gentle" (R 280, 301) Jennie White and her first-born daughter, Nadine. They lived a refined, "calm, peaceful", R 307, existence in the home of Mrs. White's mother and father, along with Mrs. White's sister, who was close to Nadine's age. R 280. Nadine remembers that their life centered around "church and Sunday school, and my mother was very dedicated to education. We knew our ABC's and multiplication tables before we ever started school." R 280.

This serene setting changed when Nadine was about nine, and Jennie married Melvin White. R 307. On the wedding day, at the wedding dinner, Melvin became enraged at "some very simple childish thing," caused a scene, and "disappeared." R 281. But he returned, to torture his family.

Those who know him best -- his former wife, step-daughter, and daughter -- describe Melvin as "very cruel" (R 282), "mean" (R 285), "abusive" (R 286), "very childish, very petty and sick" (R 292-93), "a sick, mental case" (R 294), "mean, sick and sadistic" (R 303), "a sick man" (R 304), and "mean and cruel." R 321.¹⁵

Nadine was horrified by the downturn in their lives. "We didn't know there was such abuse and unconcern for your fellow man in the world." R 290. Like his father (R 321)¹⁶, Melvin was an extreme alcoholic, "a drunk" who couldn't hold a job and whose sole pleasures in life were drinking, extramarital affairs, and terrorizing his wife, young step-daughter, and later, his own children. Mrs. White and Nadine repeatedly fled, hiding in barns (R 282), in bushes on the side of the road (R 310-11), in the washroom behind their home, (R 311), with friends (R 282), or wherever they could find to wait until he passed out or left. Melvin killed Nadine's pet owl and forced her to bury the animal. R 286. She saw Melvin beat her mother, as well as

¹⁵ In addition to the harshness inflicted on Jennie and her children, Melvin later formed a new family (and had a <u>second</u> son also named William Melvin White, Jr.). His continued cruelty is evidenced by his arrests and convictions for battery and child abuse towards this second set of children and step-children. Def. Exs. 16-18.

¹⁶ Mrs. White's brother also exhibited traits of alcoholism later in life. R. 321.

Mrs. White being pushed down steps, resulting in the fracture or sprain of her ankles. R 283.

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