IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM M. WHITE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 88,686

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF RULE 3.850 MOTION CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 327832
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

importantly, <u>Patterson</u> does not mandate that the court itself must prepare the order.

Decisions which constitute nothing more than evolutionary refinements in the law, as defined by the standard enunciated in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla.), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 1067, 101 S.Ct. 796, 66 L.Ed.2d 612 (1980), should not be retroactively applied in post-conviction proceedings. Furthermore, the Patterson decision relied on Nibert v. State, 508 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1987), wherein this Court only

...strongly urged trial courts to prepare their own written statements of the findings in support of the death penalty, commenting that the failure to do so does not constitute reversible error so long as the record reflects that the trial judge made the requisite findings at the sentencing hearing (e.s., citation omitted).

Patterson v. State, 513 So.2d at 1262.

In 1978, the trial court -- consistent with the practice at that time of trial and for years thereafter -- had a written order prepared at the time of orally pronouncing sentence. See Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833, 841 (Fla. 1988) (". . . we consider it desirable to establish a procedural rule that all written orders be prepared prior to imposing a death sentence pronouncement of sentence for filing concurrent with the pronouncement") (e.s.). Indeed, in Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648, 656 (Fla. 1981), this Court found no error in the trial court's use of a prepared order, stating,

Appellant contends that the record shows that the judge did not consider the evidence offered in mitigation. After adjudicating appellant guilty, the court set a time for the sentencing hearing and meanwhile ordered a presentence investigation. At the sentencing hearing, after hearing all the evidence and argument, the judge stated her findings, which she read from a pre-prepared order. Appellant argues this shows no consideration was given to his evidence and argument offered at that The fact that the judge recited findings from an order prepared before the final sentencing hearing does not compel the conclusion that she did not give the required consideration to the evidence presented by the All of the court's findings of <u>defense.</u> aggravating circumstances were based on evidence that was adduced at the trial proper. there was nothing wrong with her having these findings and considerations in mind at the start of the sentencing hearing. The fact that the pre-prepared order found that there were no mitigating circumstances does not show that the judge did not consider the evidence and argument offered in mitigation. The recitation and filing of the sentencing findings merely indicate that the court concluded that nothing presented by the defense at the hearing required her to add to or change her pre-prepared findings.

(e.s.) 397 So. 2d at 656.

Fifteen years <u>after</u> White's sentencing, this Court also promulgated <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993), adding for the first time the requirement of an intervening recess after hearing evidence and argument for preparation of written findings. Subsequently, in <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994) this Court rejected a defense contention that preparation of an order before sentencing hearing constituted an impermissible

predetermination of sentence without hearing argument and evidence since the court allowed Armstrong to present additional evidence at sentencing, and <u>Spencer</u> was only a change in procedure to be applied prospectively. <u>See also Card v. State</u>, 652 So.2d 344, 345 (Fla. 1995); <u>Layman v. State</u>, 652 So.2d 373, 376 n 5 (Fla. 1995).

The original trial judge testified that he signed the 2½ page proposed order only "when I made up my mind as to what I was going to do" and it was the trial judge who prepared the six-page order setting forth the explicit "findings of fact" supporting the imposition of the death penalty in 1978. Under the facts of this case, and the law in effect at the time of White's trial and sentencing, postconviction relief was properly denied.

Lastly, as to White's complaints concerning a purported "buzzing" sound and the reading of prayers attributed to famous American patriots, White can demonstrate no entitlement to relief on either procedurally barred claim. At the time of trial, the defense neither objected to the actions of the trial judge, nor sought to recuse the trial judge on the basis of any perceived bias. Even in retrospect, defense counsel agreed that the judge's actions did not cause them to believe that their client would not receive a fair trial before Judge Pfeiffer.

During the evidentiary hearing, White established that prayers or famous quotations were read to the jury by Judge Pfeiffer during White's trial (T 24, 37-38). Marc Lubet testified that Judge

Pfeiffer read prayers during DiMarino's trial as well (T 118-119)

Based upon the authority of <u>March v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), it is clear that such judicial conduct does not necessarily constitute error, 12 that any impropriety is subject to harmless error analysis, 13 and, most importantly, that such a claim of error is properly raised on direct appeal rather than on collateral review. 14 Rule 3.850 "does not authorize relief based on grounds that could have or should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal of the judgment and sentence." Moreover, even if the issue were properly cognizable on collateral review and not procedurally barred, any error in this regard was harmless given the fact that there is no reasonable probability that the error, if any, contributed to the jury's 12-0 verdict.

¹²"It should be clear that we do not criticize the proper use of prayers, including recognition of a supreme being, in the opening of judicial or legislative sessions." March v. State, 458 So. 2d at 310.

¹³March's judgments of convictions were affirmed on the basis of harmless error analysis. <u>March v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d at 311.

 $^{^{14}}$ Defendant March objected to the prayers read during his trial. March v. State, 458 So. 2d at 309.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE.

White now argues that his sentence is disproportionate to the sentences received by his codefendants, Smith and DiMarino, and, therefore, he should be sentenced to life imprisonment. For the following reasons, this claim must be denied.

White's claim of "disparate" treatment in sentencing is merely a resurrection of arguments which were raised and rejected on direct appeal. White v. State, 415 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 1982). In 1981, this Court implicitly rejected any argument that Guy Smith was dominant in this murder when it reduced Smith's death sentence to life in prison. Smith v. State, 403 So.2d 933 (Fla. 1981). In affirming White's conviction and death sentence the following year, this Court specifically noted that "we are fully aware that DiMarino escaped with a conviction of a third-degree murder. While this is fortunate for him, it does not require the reduction ow White's sentence. White was the executioner, and his sentence is warranted." 415 So. 2d at 720. Matters that have been raised on direct appeal of the conviction and sentence cannot be relitigated in a postconviction motion. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995).

Furthermore, White does not identify where he raised this claim in his postconviction motion and the trial court's comprehensive order does not address this particular issue. Since there is no showing that the court below denied this issue, there is no claim in this regard which has been preserved for appeal. Nevertheless, relying on Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992), White claims that this Court should now reduce his sentence to life imprisonment. This Court's decision in <u>Scott</u> is of no benefit to White. In <u>Scott</u>, this Court held that "in a death case involving equally culpable codefendants the death sentence of one codefendant is subject to collateral review under rule 3.850 when another equally culpable codefendant subsequently receives a life sentence." 604 So. 2d at 469. Scott received postconviction relief because this Court affirmed Scott's death sentence before his co-defendant was sentenced to life in prison. In this case, White's death sentence was affirmed on direct appeal after Smith's sentence was reduced to life and this Court specifically rejected White's argument that his sentence should be reduced in light of DiMarino's third-degree murder conviction and sentence. When co-defendants are not equally culpable, the death sentence of the more culpable co-defendant is not unequal justice when another co-defendant receives a life sentence. Steinhorst v. Singletary, 638 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1994).

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN STRIKING PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIMS WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

In his final claim, White sets forth a volley of shotgun arguments, contending that the trial court erred in summarily denying his remaining grounds for postconviction relief. All of White's remaining claims were procedurally barred, therefore, the trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief on these remaining issues must be affirmed. See, Robinson v. State, 1998 WL 54134 (Fla., Feb. 12, 1998); Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996). In Mills, the defendant also contended that the trial court reversibly erred when it summarily denied relief without attaching those portions of the record conclusively showing that he was entitled to no relief. Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.850(d). Because the trial court specifically found the issues raised by Mills "procedurally barred as representing matters which were or could have been raised previously for the reasons contained [in] the State's Response," this Court found no reversible error. 684 So.2d at 804.

The trial court's order denying postconviction relief on White's remaining claims states, in pertinent part:

6. Denial of right to counsel during the first day of trial.

White alleges that his trial counsel was not a member of the Florida Bar and that the Integration Rule of the Florida Bar, Article II, paragraph 2, was violated on the first day of trial. The Integration Rule provided that a non-Florida Bar member who appeared in Florida was required to be associated with an active member of the

Florida Bar. In recognition of this Rule, on the second day of trial, the court appointed White's original counsel, a member of the Public Defender's Office, to serve as advisory counsel to White's trial counsel. As a result, Defendant argues that because his counsel was not authorized to practice in Florida, Defendant was effectively without counsel during the first day of trial.

This issue should have been raised on initial appeal and hence, is not a proper matter for consideration under rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Mikenas v. State, 460 So. 359 (Fla. 1984). This is not a claim of ineffective counsel which is cognizable in a 3.850 motion but rather a claim involving the right to counsel. Clearly, this is an issue that should have been raised on appeal.

7. Defendant was deprived of the right to have his mental state considered as a mitigating circumstance because of the erroneous application of sanity-insanity legal principles.

This claim was stricken at the 1987 hearing. This claim should have been raised on appeal.

8. The trial court only considered statutory mitigation and failed to considered the non-statutory mitigation.

This claim was also stricken at the 1987 hearing. It should have been raised on appeal.

9. The sentencing proceedings were unreliable because of the residual doubt concerning Defendant's quilt.

This claim was stricken at the 1987 hearing. It should have been raised on appeal.

 $10\,.$ On its face and as systematically applied, the Florida death penalty statute violates the eight and fourteenth amendments.

Again, this claim was stricken at the 1987 hearing. It should have been raised on appeal.

11. Defendant was deprived of a fair and reliable sentencing determination because the prosecutor and judge diminished the jury's sense of responsibility for

sentencing in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985).

This claim was also stricken at the 1987 hearing. This issue must be raised on direct appeal. Berolotti v. State, 534 So. 2d 386, 387 n.2 (Fla. 1988); Jones v. Dugger, 533 So. 2d 290, 292 (Fla. 1988).

14. The State improperly sought sympathy for the deceased because of her surviving children.

Again, Defendant recognizes that this issue is procedurally barred but states that it should be considered because of fundamental error or a change in the law based on <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed. 2d 440 (1987), <u>overruled by Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U. S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed. 2d 720 (1991) (some victim impact evidence proper during the penalty phase).

Defendant is wrong. Prior to <u>Payne</u>, the Florida Supreme Court held that <u>Booth</u> should be applied retroactively; but even so, the error must still be preserved by objection. <u>See Mills v. Dugger</u>, 574 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1990). Here, there was no objection to the allegedly improper comments made during the innocence-guilt phase of the trial. Further, the two statements which Defendant finds improper are not of such a magnitude as to be fundamental error. The statements neither became the focus of the trial nor rose to the level of error as found in <u>Booth</u>. Therefore, this claim is without merit.

15. The trial court erred in accepting defense counsel's waiver of the intoxication defense without a personal inquiry of defendant.

Once again, this issue is procedurally barred, but White avers he is entitled to raise this claim because it is based upon fundamental error or a change in the law citing <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So, 2d 787 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 466 U. S. 963, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed. 2d 563 (1984) (requires a defendant's express waiver of jury instructions concerning lesser included offenses). This court finds that the waiver was not fundamental error. Moreover, <u>Harris</u>, even if applicable in the instant

situation, is not such a change in the law as to be retroactively applied under the analysis set forth in <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 449 U. S. 1067, 101 S. Ct. 796, 66 L.Ed. 2d 612 (1980).

16. The trial court erred in allowing numerous theories of felony murder to go to the jury which were not defined and not supported by evidence.

This issue should have been raised on initial appeal and accordingly, is not a proper matter for consideration under rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Mikenas v. State, 460 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1984).

17. The trial court erred in failing to inform the jury that life imprisonment meant no possibility of parole for twenty-five years.

This issue should have been raised on initial appeal and hence, is not a proper matter for consideration. <u>Id</u>.

18. The trial court erred in discussing appellate review in the presence of the jury prior to the penalty phase.

Again, this issue should have been raised on initial appeal and therefore, is procedurally barred.

19. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that mitigating circumstances must outweigh aggravating circumstances in order to return a life sentence.

Defendant argues that this is fundamental error or a change in the law based on inter alia, Adamson v. Ricketts, 865 F. 2d 1011 (9th Cir. 1988), cert. denied sub nom. Lewis v. Adamson, 497 U. S. 1031, 110 S.Ct 3287, 111 L.Ed 2d 795 (1990). Nevertheless, the supreme court has indicated otherwise and has stated that Adamson is not such a change in the law to require retroactive application. Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1258 (Fla. 1990).

20. The trial court erred in instructing the jury not to consider sympathy.

And, once more, White attempts to avoid the procedural bar by contending that this is fundamental error or based on a change in the law, citing <u>Parks v.</u>

Brown, 860 F.2d 1545 (10th Cir. 1988), rev'd sub nom., Saffle v. Parks, 494 U. S. 484, 110 S.Ct. 1257, 108 L.Ed. 2d 415 (1990). And, once more, the Florida Supreme Court disagrees. Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1258 (Fla. 1990).

Because all of these claims were procedurally barred, the trial court did not err in summarily denying postconviction relief.

Mills, supra.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the trial court's order denying postconviction relief should be affirmed.